Earth Negotiations Bull eti

A Reporting Service for Environment and Devel opment Negotiations

Vol. 15 No. 10

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development

Monday, 6 July 1998

REPORT OF THE FIRST SESSION OF THE INC
FOR AN INTERNATIONAL LEGALLY BINDING
INSTRUMENT FOR IMPLEMENTING
INTERNATIONAL ACTION ON CERTAIN
PERSISTENT ORGANIC POLLUTANTS (POPS):
29 JUNE -3 JULY 1998

Thefirst session of the | ntergovernmental Negotiating Committee
(INC-1) for aninternational legally binding instrument for imple-
menting international action on certain persistent organic pollutants
(POPs) was held from 29 June-3 July 1998 in Montreal, Canada. Dele-
gatesfrom 92 countries met in Plenary to consider the programme of
work for the INC aswell as possible elements that might be included
inaninternational legally binding instrument on alist of twelve POPs
grouped into three categories: 1) pesticide POPs: aldrin, chlordane,
DDT, dieldrin, endrin, heptachlor, mirex and toxaphene; 2) industrial
chemical POPs: hexachl orobenzene and polychlorinated biphenyls
(PCBs); and 3) POPsthat are unintended byproducts: dioxinsand
furans. The INC established aCriteria Expert Group (CEG), aswell as
asubsidiary body to examine implementation aspects of afuture
instrument, including issues related to technical and financial assis-
tance. Two contact groups discussed terms of reference for the CEG
and technical information needsfor the INC. Based on the discussions
at INC-1 and written commentsto be submitted by 1 September 1998,
the Secretariat will prepare for INC-2 adocument containing material
for possibleinclusionin aninternational legally binding instrument.

To the satisfaction of many participants, INC-1 enjoyed asmooth
and relatively trouble-free start. Delegates met with a clear spirit of
cooperation, mutual purpose, shared responsibility and voiced their
determination to tackle what is universally acknowledged asavery
real and seriousthreat to human health and the environment. There
was universal support for the sound and clear platform for progress
established by prior activities, such asthe work of the Intergovern-
mental Forum on Chemical Safety and UNEP Governing Council
Decision 19/13C, the mandate of the POPs negotiations. The INC
quickly adopted their rules of procedure and began considering some
initial elementsthat could beincluded in adraft convention. Despite
this progress, some del egates thought that given thework and experi-
ence on POPs|eading up to the meeting, including arecently
completed POPs protocol under the Long-Range Transboundary Air
Pollution Convention, greater efforts could have been devoted to the
substance of apotential draft instrument in order to accelerate the
process.

A BRIEFHISTORY OF THE NEGOTIATIONS

Growth inthe use of certain chemicalsinindustry and aspesticide
increased dramatically during the 1960s and 1970s. Many of these
chemicals areimportant to modern society but can al so pose a seriout
threat to human health and the environment. In particular, acertain
category of chemicalsknown as persistent organic pollutants (POPs)
has recently attracted international attention. POPs are chemical
substancesthat are persistent, bioaccumulate and pose arisk of
causing adverse effectsto human health and the environment. A
growing body of scientific evidence indicatesthat exposureto very
low doses of certain POPs - which are among the most toxic
substances ever created - can lead to cancer, damageto the central an
peripheral nervous systems, diseases of theimmune system, reprodur
tive disorders, and interference with normal infant and child devel op:
ment. With the further evidence of thelong-range transport of these
substances to regions where they have never been used or produced
and the consequent threats they now pose to the environment world-
wide, theinternational community has called for urgent global action
to reduce and eliminate their rel ease into the environment.

Prior to 1992, international action on chemicals primarily involve
developing toolsfor risk assessment and conducting international
assessments of priority chemicals. For example, in 1989 UNEP
amended its London Guidelines for the Exchange of Information on
Chemicalsin International Trade and the FAO established the Intern:
tional Code of Conduct for the Distribution and Use of Pesticides.
Agenda 21, adopted at the 1992 UN Conference on Environment and

INTHISISSUE
A Brief History of theNegotiations . .................. 1
Report of INC-1 ... ... 2
Organizational Matters .. ...................... 3
Preparation of an International Legally Binding
Instrument . ........ ... . 3
Work Programmeof theINC. . .................. 5
ClosingPlenary . ............c ... 8
A Brief Analysisof INC-1 .......................... 9
ThingstoLook For........... ... it 10

Thisissue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> iswritten and edited by Richard Campbell <richcam@hotmail.com>, Jonathan Krueger <jkrueger@iisd.org>,
LeilaMead <leila@interport.net> and Tiffany Prather <tprather@iisd.org>. The Editor is Pamela Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org> and the Managing Editor is Langston James
"Kimo" Goree VI <kimo@iisd.org>. The Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are the Netherlands Ministry for Development Cooperation, the Government of Canada (through
CIDA) and the United States (through USAID). General Support for the Bulletin during 1998 is provided by the United Kingdom Department for International Development
(DFID), the German Federal Ministry of Environment (BMU), the Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Swiss Office for Environment, Forests and L andscape, the European
Community (DG-XI), the Ministries of Environment and Foreign Affairs of Austria, the Ministries of Foreign Affairs and Environment of Norway, the United Nations
Development Programme (UNDP), the Global Environment Facility (GEF) and the Ministry for the Environment in Iceland. The Bulletin can be contacted by e-mail at
<enb@iisd.org> and at tel: +1-212-644-0204; fax: +1-212-644-0206. |1SD can be contacted by e-mail at <info@iisd.ca> and at 161 Portage Avenue East, 6th Floor, Winnipeg,
Manitoba R3B 0Y 4, Canada. The opinions expressed in the Earth Negotiations Bulletin are those of the authorsand do not necessarily reflect the views of 11SD and other funders.
Excerptsfrom the Earth Negotiations Bulletin may be used in non-commercial publications only and only with appropriate academic citation. For permission to use thismaterial
incommercial publications, contact the Managing Editor. Electronic versionsof the Bulletin are sent to e-mail distribution listsand can be found on the Linkages WWW server at
http://www.iisd.callinkages/. The satelliteimage wastaken above New Y ork City (c)1998 TheLiving Earth, Inc. http://livingearth.com. For information on the Earth Negotiations
Bulletin, send e-mail to <enb@iisd.org>.




Monday, 6 July 1998

Vol. 15 No. 10 Page 2

Development, included Chapter 19 on the “ Environmentally Sound
Management of Toxic ChemicalsIncluding Prevention of Illegal Inter-
national Trafficin Toxic and Dangerous Products,” which called for
the creation of an Intergovernmental Forum on Chemical Safety
(IFCS). The Inter-Organization Programme on the Sound Manage-
ment of Chemicals (IOMC) was al so established to promote coordina-
tion among international organizationsinvolved inimplementing
Chapter 19.

In March 1995, the UNEP Governing Council (GC) adopted Deci-
sion 18/32 and invited the IOMC, together with the I nternational
Programme on Chemical Safety (IPCS) and the IFCS, to initiate an
assessment process regarding alist of 12 POPs, taking into account the
circumstances of devel oping countries and countries with economies
intransition. The assessments of the chemicalsweretoinclude avail-
ableinformation on their chemistry, sources, toxicity, environmental
dispersion and socio-economic impacts. The IFCS was further invited
to devel op recommendations and information on international action
to be considered by the 1997 sessions of the UNEP GC and the World
Health Assembly (WHA). In responseto thisinvitation, UNEP
convened an Ad Hoc Working Group on POPs that devel oped awork-
plan for the assessment of these 12 substances, which was subse-
quently adopted by the second meeting of the I nter-Sessional Group
(1SG2) of the IFCSin March 1996, held in Canberra, Australia.

The Ad Hoc Working Group reported to the [IFCS meeting held in
June 1996 in Manila, the Philippines. The meeting concluded that
sufficient information existed to demonstrate that international action,
including aglobal legally binding instrument, isrequired to minimize
therisksfrom 12 specified POPs through measuresto reduce and/or
eliminate their emissions and discharges. Consequently, |FCS recom-
mended to the UNEP GC and the WHA that immediate international
action be taken.

In February 1997, the UNEP GC adopted Decision 19/13C
endorsing the conclusions and recommendations of the IFCS. The GC
requested that UNEP, together with relevant international organiza-
tions, prepare for and convene an intergovernmental negotiating
committee (INC) with amandate to prepare an international legally
binding instrument for implementing international action beginning
with the 12 specified POPs. Thefirst meeting of the INC was also
requested to establish an expert group for the devel opment of science-
based criteriaand a procedure for identifying additional POPs as
candidatesfor futureinternational action. Alsoin February 1997, the
second meeting of the IFCS, held in Ottawa, Canada, decided that the
IFCS Ad Hoc Working Group would continueto assist in the prepara-
tionsfor the negotiations. In May 1997, the WHA endorsed the recom-
mendations of the |FCS and requested that the World Health
Organization (WHO) participate actively in negotiations of the inter-
national instrument. Most recently, the UNEP GC, held in May 1998,
again highlighted the beginning of the UNEP POPs negotiations.

A number of recent meetings have al so addressed issuesrelated to
the POPsINC agenda:

* InJune 1995, Partiesto the Barcelona Convention for the
Protection of the Mediterranean Seaagainst Pollution agreed to
the Barcel ona Resol ution, which aimsto reduce by theyear 2005
and to gradually eliminate discharges and emissions of substances
that aretoxic, persistent and liableto bioaccumul ate and that
could reach the marine environment.

» An“International Expert Meeting on Persistent Organic
Pollutants: Towards Global Action,” jointly organized by Canada
and the Philippines, washeld in VVancouver, Canada, in June 1995.
The meeting concluded that domestic regul atory arrangementsare
not adequate in managing the adverse global impacts of POPsand
requested that asuitableinternational agency provide definitions,
criteriaand acomprehensivelist of POPs.

» Thelntergovernmental Conferenceto Adopt the Global

Programme of Action for the Protection of the Marine
Environment from Land-Based Activities (GPA) took placein
Washington, DC, in November 1995. Over 108 governments
declared, inter alia, their support for the development of alegally
binding instrument to reduce or eliminate the discharge,
manufacture, and use of the 12 POPs.

» During 1997 and 1998, UNEP and the | FCS conducted eight
regional and subregional joint awareness rai sing workshopsonthe
risksand global issues associated with POPs, particularly for
developing countries and countrieswith economiesin transition.

* InMarch 1998, representativesfrom 95 governments completed
negotiationsfor aninternational legally binding Convention on
thePrior Informed Consent Procedurefor Certain Hazardous
Chemicalsand Pesticidesin International Trade (PIC
Convention). The PIC principle statesthat export of dangerous
chemicalsand pesticides should not proceed unlessexplicitly
agreed upon by theimporting country. Themajor aimisto
promote ashared responsibility between exporting and importing
countriesin protecting human health and the environment from
the harmful effectsof certain hazardous chemical sbeing traded
internationally. This Convention will be adopted and opened for
signature at aDiplomatic Conferenceto be held in Rotterdam, the
Netherlands, in September 1998.

» TheUN Economic Commission for Europe (UN/ECE) recently
concluded negotiationsfor aprotocol to the Convention on Long-
Range Transboundary Air Pollution (LRTAP) regarding 16 POPs.
On 24 June 1998, 32 countries and the European Community
signed the protocol, which aimsto control, reduce or eliminate
discharges, emissions and |osses of POPs. The protocol: bansthe
production and use of some products outright (aldrin, chlordane,
chlordecone, dieldrin, endrin, hexabromobiphenyl, mirex,
toxaphene); schedul es othersfor elimination at alater stage (DDT,
heptachlor, hexachl orobenzene, PCBs); and severely restrictsthe
useof DDT, HCH (including lindane), and PCBs. It also obliges
countriesto reducetheir emissionsof dioxins, furans, PAHsand
HCB below their 1990 level sand providesfor best available
techniquesto cut emissions of these POPs.

REPORT OF INC-1

Dr. Klaus Topfer, Executive Director of UNEP, opened INC-1 on
Monday, 29 June 1998, and called for, inter alia: urgent international
action on POPs; |ess generation of hazardous waste; and movement
toward cleaner production and alifecycle economy. He noted that citi-
zens and action groups have been instrumental in raising awareness
about the risks of toxic chemicals, highlighted theimportant work that
organizations such as UNEP, the IOMC, IPCS, and IFCS have donein
thisarea, and stressed the importance of funding these activities and
the POPs negotiations. He stated that the ultimate goal must be the
elimination of POPsreleases, not simply their better management.

Jacques Yves Therrien, Sous-ministre delaMetropole, Quebec,
highlighted theincreasing evidence of POPsin northern areas of
Quebec and said that Quebec had initiated some of the early research
into thisissue. He stressed that the global dimension of the POPs
problem requiresinternational cooperation.

Christine Stewart, Minister of the Environment, Canada, noted that
in northern Canada peopl e often consume food with POP levelsup to
eight times higher than in southern Canada, and that POPs affect
women and children in particular. Sherecalled the recently compl eted
LRTAP POPs protocol, the first multinational legally binding agree-
ment on POPs, and emphasi zed the need for concerted global action.
She also urged delegatesto consider those most affected by these
substances.



Vol. 15 No. 10 Page 3

Monday, 6 July 1998

ORGANIZATIONAL MATTERS

During the opening Plenary, Dr. Topfer requested nominations for
the Bureau of the INC. After consultations, John Buccini (Canada) was
elected Chair of the INC and the following delegates were elected
Vice-Chairs: Mohammed Asrarul Haque (India); Maria-Cristina
Cardenas Fischer (Colombia); and Ephraim Buti Mathebula (South
Africa). DarkaHamel (Croatia) was el ected Rapporteur. Chair Buccini
thanked delegates, expressed his commitment to act with honor and
responsibility, and highlighted the challenges ahead through to 2000,
thetarget year for compl etion of the negotiations.

Jim Willis (UNEP Chemicals) reminded delegates of the INC’s
mandate and highlighted provisions of UNEP GC Decision 19/13C
and their usefulnessfor lending structure and guidance to the negotia-
tions. The Agendafor the meeting (UNEP/POPS/INC.1/1) wasthen
adopted by the Plenary without amendment.

Thefollowing documents prepared by the Secretariat were used as
the basisfor discussions:

» themandate given to the POPsINC by the UNEP GC (UNEP/
GC.19/13C);

* draft rulesof procedurefor the meetings of the POPsINC (UNEP/
POPS/INC.1/2);

» asummary of certain multilateral legally binding instruments
relevant to an international legally binding instrument on certain
POPs (UNEP/POPS/INC.1/3);

» anoteon possible substantivearticles of aninternational legally
binding instrument on certain POPs (UNEP/POPS/INC.1/4);

* draft text of final provisions (UNEP/POPS/INC.1/5);

» anoteonthe consideration of possiblecriteriafor identifying
further POPs as candidatesfor international action (UNEP/POPS/
INC.1/6);

» anotefromthe Secretariat of the Basel Convention regardingits
relevanceto POPs (UNEP/POPS/INC.V/INF/1);

» anoteon the proceedingsof theregional and subregional
awareness-rai sing workshops on POPs (UNEP/POPS/INC.1/INF/
2);

« thedraft LRTAP POPs protocol (UNEP/POPS/INC.1/INF/3);

« thefinal report of the meeting of the [IFCS Ad Hoc Working
Group on POPs, held on 21 and 22 June 1996 in Manila, the
Philippines (UNEP/POPS/INC.1/INF/4); and

 paragraphspertainingto POPsfromthefinal report of IFCS-2

(UNEP/POPS/INC.1V/INF/5).

RULES OF PROCEDURE

On Monday, 29 June, delegatesin Plenary considered the draft
rules of procedure for the INC, which were prepared on the basis of the
rules of procedure adopted for meetings of the PIC INC. The rules of
procedure consist of 56 rules, grouped into the following 12 sections:
purpose; definitions; place and dates of meetings; agenda; representa-
tion; officers; Secretariat; conduct of business; subsidiary organs of
the meetings, such asworking and expert groups; languages and
records; public and private meetings; and observers.

Delegates briefly discussed rule 53, which states that meetings of
subsidiary organs, other than any drafting group that may be estab-
lished, shall be held in public unlessthe organ concerned decides
otherwise. IRAN said there was no justification for closing any meet-
ings, meetings should be open-ended for all delegations, and proposed
deletion of the phrase “ shall be held in public unlessthe organ
concerned decides otherwise.” The UNEP Legal Counsel said the
purpose of such aprovision isto provide reasonabl e discretion for
private meetingsin an exceptional case, whichisin full accordance
with UN practice. The Secretariat added that the provision refersto
public observers outside the negotiation process, and does not exclude
governmentsfrom such private meetings. The rules of procedure for
the meeting were adopted by the Plenary without amendment.

PREPARATION OF AN INTERNATIONAL LEGALLY BINDING
INSTRUMENT

Deliberations on the preparation of aninternational legally binding
instrument on certain POPs began on Monday, 29 June, in Plenary.
The Plenary heard opening statements from del egations and consid-
ered, inter alia, the programme of work for the INC and possible
elementsto beincluded in adraft international legally binding instru-
ment on POPs. The Plenary also convened several contact groupsto
discuss specific issues and report back to Plenary. Thefollowing
summarizesthe various issues discussed during the week.

OPENING STATEMENTS: OnMonday, 29 June, and Tuesday
morning, 30 June, delegatesin Plenary heard opening statements from
governments, intergovernmental organizations (IGOs) and non-
governmental organizations (NGOs). Many del egates expressed their
appreciation to UNEP and the INC Secretariat aswell asto the
Government of Canadafor hosting thefirst session. Many statements
also emphasized, inter alia: the devel opment of financial mechanisms;
institutional and technical capacity building; training in management
of existing POPs; monitoring the use of POPs; devel oping alternatives,
transfer of technology and knowledge; and financial and technical
assistance for management of POPs and implementation of a POPs
convention for devel oping countries and countrieswith economiesin
transition.

The UK, on behalf of the European Community (EC), said the
LRTAP POPs protocol could aid the INC in the development of a
global agreement on POPs. He said the INC should initially focuson
the 12 POPsidentified in the mandate, with aview to later expanding
thelist for consideration by an expert group to include the four addi-
tional POPsin the LRTAP POPs protocol and two additional
substances highlighted in the Ministerial Declaration to the“Environ-
ment for Europe” Ministerial Conference. He also stressed the need to
avoid overlap with other multilateral environmental agreements, in
particular the Basel and PIC Conventions.

JAPAN called for, inter alia: cooperation among all stakeholders
in addressing POPs; atransparent negotiating process; the identifica-
tion of other substances and criteriafor their regulation on astrictly
scientific basis, aswell asthe establishment of an expert group for this
purpose; and consideration of other international agreementsrelatedto
POPsin negotiating the POPs convention. INDONESIA noted that his
country had banned all 12 POPs and called for greater cooperation
between devel oped and devel oping countries, particularly concerning
capacity building, to reduce the use of POPs.

AUSTRALIA said that in devel oping a POPs convention,
increased consideration should be given to the experiences of coun-
triesin the southern hemisphere. AUSTRALIA also stressed the need
to consider the differing national conditionsin the development of
criteriaand called for, inter alia: increased information sharing, rather
than financial assistance, in ensuring countries’ safer chemical
management; confining negotiationsto the current mandate of 12
POPs and increasing thelist only after these have been adequately
addressed; and the establishment of an expert group on criteria.

NORWAY said knowledge of the negative effects of POPsisfar
from complete and that their ability to act asendocrine disruptersis
particularly alarming. He called for stopping tradein POPs and
encouraged their saf e destruction where production and use have been
banned. He stressed a precautionary approach in the use of criteriafor
consideration of future POPs, the importance of mechanismsfor
supporting devel oping countries and consideration of the relationship
between POPs and the work of the Global Environment Facility
(GEF).

THAILAND recognized, inter alia, the importance of socio-
economic criteriain considering additional POPs, and encouraged
industrialized countriesto assist devel oping countrieswith initiating
POPs activities. The CZECH REPUBLIC stressed the importance of



Monday, 6 July 1998

Vol. 15 No. 10 Page 4

POPs, even to countries that have banned them, because of their long-
range transport characteristics. He reiterated the important task of safe
disposal of contaminated stockpiles and the prevention of further
POPs emissions even where POPs are already banned.

The REPUBLIC OF KOREA highlighted the success of the Mont-
real Protocol based on its successful provision of technical and finan-
cial support to devel oping countries and proposed it asamodel for a
POPs convention. COTE D’ 1V OIRE noted that his government has
developed a PCB pilot project within the framework of the Basel
Convention and stressed the importance of addressing at the outset the
concerns of developing countriesthat lack resourcesto manage the
substances to be banned.

CHILE noted the absence of many devel oping countries and hoped
more would participate asthe process movesforward. He proposed the
establishment of anetwork of certified regional satellitelaboratories
connected to acentral laboratory that would providetechnical assis-
tance. He also stressed viable alternatives, risk profiles based on scien-
tific evidence to determine inclusion or exclusion, and compatibility
with other international agreements such asAgenda21 andthe GATT.

POLAND called for adopting measuresto control international
trade of POPs and, supported by PAKISTAN, astrong article
regarding financial mechanisms. BRAZIL, supported by ARGEN-
TINA and the PHILIPPINES, said the proposed working group on
criteria should be open-ended. With respect to this group, BRAZIL
also stressed scientifically based criteria, clearly defined terms of
reference, and provisionsfor technical assistance to devel oping coun-
tries. He also called for the POPs convention to include financial
mechanismsto assist devel oping countries. The DOMINICAN
REPUBLIC also stressed appropriate financial mechanismsfor devel-
oping countries.

PAKISTAN said devel oped countries and multinational corpora-
tions should assist with POPs destruction in devel oping countriessince
they contributed to their existencein thefirst place. ICELAND
stressed, inter alia: its dependence on fisheries; the global nature of
POPs and the importance of eliminating dangers of increased POP
levels; adoption of aprecautionary principle and flexibility in order to
adjust to scientific devel opments; and the importance of NGO partici-
pation in the negotiations.

TUNISIA proposed that producers of POPs beforced to withdraw
all current unused stockpilesin countries maintaining those stockpiles.
NEW ZEALAND said it was premature to give active consideration to
adding new POPsto the current list while the negotiations are ongoing.
Hefurther noted the LRTAP POPs protocol was a positive devel op-
ment but emphasized that countriesin the southern hemisphere may
have different situations.

BURKINA FASO noted that as adevel oping and agricultural
country, itisamajor importer and consumer of various pesticides and
chemicals, but that it lacks the infrastructure and ability to ensure
rational management of these substances.

CANADA supported strong international action focused on land,
marine and air-based POPs pollution with special consideration to be
given to devel oping countries and countries with economiesin transi-
tion. He suggested the INC consider criteriafor identifying other POPs
for regulation based on sound science and that the 2000 deadlineisan
important and achievable goal. MEX1CO emphasized that the INC
should focus on the 12 initial POPs and then consider other POPs
candidates based on the scientific criteriato be established. Since
developed countrieswill likely play alarger rolein the development of
criteriafor additional POPs, he stressed that consideration be given to
the capacities of all countries. He al so advocated searching for cost-
effective alternativesin partnership with industry and NGOs.

PERU highlighted the need for international cooperation and assis-
tancein order to devel op alternatives. SOUTH AFRICA stated its
commitment to the sound management of POPs, but suggested that the

LRTAP POPs protocol was not abasisfor an international convention
sinceit does not recognize the special situation of developing coun-
tries. He stressed socio-economic factors, such as possibleimpactson
food production and human health and limiting the negotiationsto the
12 POPs.

COLOMBIA, NIGERIA and EL SALVADOR supported the
creation of an open-ended expert group for establishing criteriafor
additional POPs. COLOMBIA and the US called for different
approachesto the three POPs categories. COLOMBIA and INDIA
called for the phase-out of the 12 POPs on agradual and sustainable
basis.

INDIA noted that pesticides and chemicalsdegrade differently in
varying climates and stressed the necessity of studying the behavior of
POPs under different environmental conditions. INDIA and BANG-

L ADESH said due consideration should be given to the economic
viability of alternativesto POPsfor devel oping countriesand countries
with economiesin transition. BANGL ADESH supported theinvolve-
ment of NGOs and called for protection of the knowledge and life-
stylesof indigenous and local communities.

TheUScalled for, inter alia: scienceto remain the guiding prin-
ciple asthe negotiations progress; an open and transparent process that
engages the participation of all stakeholders; UNEP to consider POPs
alternatives, noting that industry has devel oped alternativesto many of
the POPs under consideration; and greater attention to public health
concernswhen considering alternatives.

NIGERIA and SENEGAL called for increased financial support
for devel oping country participation in the negotiations. NIGERIA
supported the precautionary approach and the identification of criteria
using not only scientific means. EGY PT, EL SALVADOR and
JORDAN said that producers and traders are primarily responsible for
the existence of POPs and therefore bear the primary responsibility for
them.

KENY A emphasized, inter alia: the special needs and require-
ments of individual countriesthat still use some POPsto combat
disease; expansion of the POPsist based on the precautionary prin-
ciple; and elimination or reduction, bearing in mind the limited
capacity of developing countries. The GAMBIA emphasized phasing
out POPs, called for inventories and stressed networking at the subre-
gional level. ETHIOPIA also stressed phasing out POPs, taking into
account the economy of each country. KUWAIT called for exchange
of technology and information. MALAW!I emphasized the existence
of stockpiles, the continued importation of POPs and the lack of exper-
tisefor disposal. MALI emphasized theimportance of pesticidesin
fighting diseases and called on devel oped countriesto identify alterna-
tives. JORDAN called for governmentsto includerestrictive clausesin
their national legislation to ban the use of POPs and for assistance to
developing countriesto establish such legislation. GUINEA said a
convention should increase public awareness and provide for
managing emergenciesin thefield.

The UNITED NATIONS ECONOMIC COMMISSION FOR
EUROPE (UN/ECE) said the LRTAP POPs protocol would be valu-
ablefor the ECE region aswell as other regions. He also highlighted
the work of the World Health Organization (WHQO) in monitoring
transboundary fluxes of POPs. The WHO stressed phasing out POPs
through the provision of alternatives, acknowledged the need to use
DDT in particular cases but opposed its use by the private sector, main-
tained that the struggle against malaria should be a priority, and noted
effortsto reducerelianceon DDT. The FOOD AND AGRICULTURE
ORGANIZATION (FAO) invited the INC to draw on the expertise of
the FAO inintegrated pest management and with respect to the inclu-
sion of other POPsthat are pesticides.

ThelFCSrecalled the establishment of the Ad Hoc Working Group
on POPsin 1995 and outlined the relevance of the group’ swork to the
negotiations. He further noted that this Working Group had now



Vol. 15 No. 10 Page 5

Monday, 6 July 1998

ceased to exist with the commencement of thisINC and thanked the
members of the Group for their hard work. The ARAB LEAGUE
EDUCATIONAL CULTURAL AND SCIENTIFIC ORGANISA-
TION (ALECSO) stressed the concerns of devel oping countries
regarding POPs and the importance of creating internationally binding
provisions.

TheINTERNATIONAL POPSELIMINATION NETWORK
(IPEN) advocated acomprehensive and sustained programme of
action to eliminate these POPs rather than arisk management frame-
work convention. He also stressed i dentification of cost-effective
alternativesto POPs, including non-chemical alternatives, and shared
responsibility for aid and capacity enhancement. The INUIT
CIRCUMPOLAR CONFERENCE (ICC) said it perceives POPs as
more of apublic health concern than an environmental issue. She high-
lighted the value they place on their land and the food that is gathered
there. She stressed the bioaccumul ation of POPsin the Arctic food
chain, including in whales, sealsand polar bears, and their subsequent
passage from one generation to the next. She stressed the need for a
comprehensive, rigorous and verifiable treaty on POPs.

TheINTERNATIONAL COUNCIL OF CHEMICAL ASSOCIA-
TIONS(ICCA), speaking on behalf of industry organizationsinvolved
inthe POPsINC, stated its support for the devel opment of a conven-
tion. He stressed that: theidentification of POPs must be based only on
well defined scientific criteria; any classification of asubstance
warranting management action must be based on risk assessment; risk
management optionsto reducerisksto an acceptable level are avail-
able; and the scope of the convention should not be expanded beyond
the 12 POPs until science-based criteriaand procedures for adding
other substances are agreed upon. GREENPEACE INTERNA-
TIONAL emphasized that injury dueto POPsisnot limited to the
Arcticbut isalso found near and far from sources. He al so stressed: the
importance of regional actions; addressing capacity and financeissues;
and that POPs pose unmanageabl e risks and therefore must be elimi-
nated. On the question of criteria, he urged the INC to establish an
open and transparent process based on science rather than politics. The
WORLD FEDERATION OF PUBLIC HEALTH ASSOCIATIONS
(WFPHA) emphasized that phasing out POPsisadifficult goal that
requiresajust transition, aswell as protection of the welfare of those
involved in POPs production and use.

WORK PROGRAMME OF THE INC

On Tuesday, 30 June, delegates began consideration of the INC's
work programme, including: the creation of subsidiary bodies;
possible substantive articles for adraft instrument; implementation
aspects, including technical and financial assistance; terms of refer-
ence for the expert group on criteria; and technical information needs.
JimWillis, UNEP Chemicals, outlined the documents used asthe basis
for discussion: asummary of certain multilateral legally binding
instrumentsrelevant to an international legally binding instrument on
certain POPs (UNEP/POPS/INC.1/3); possible substantive articles of
aninternational legally binding instrument on certain POPs (UNEP/
POPS/ INC.1/4); and possiblefinal provisions of adraft instrument
(UNEP/POPS/INC.1/5).

ESTABLISHMENT OF SUBSIDIARY BODIES: On Tuesday,
30 June, delegatesdiscussed in Plenary the establishment of subsidiary
bodies of the INC. INDIA said that the Asia-Pacific Group supported
the establishment of afinancial and technical assistancegroup. Several
delegations, including the REPUBL IC OF KOREA, the CZECH
REPUBLIC, ETHIOPIA and the UK, on behalf of the EC, proposed
that aninitial discussion about substantive articles should take placein
Plenary and then appropriate bodies could be established. The
UKRAINE suggested creating asingle subsidiary body that would
consider substantive articles. POLAND proposed that a variety of

groups should be created on different topics. NEW ZEALAND
proposed the creation of three subsidiary bodies on technical issues,
financial assistance and legal matters.

On the mandate given to the INC to form an expert group to
develop science-based criteriaand aprocedure for identifying addi-
tional POPs, the Chair invited delegatesto form an open-ended contact
group to discussthe operation of the expert group. Relevant detailsfor
discussion included the expert group’ sterms of reference, costs,
formulafor participation, and recommendations for awork
programme. Many del egates expressed their desireto participatein the
contact group and Ndoye Fatoumata Jallow (The Gambia) accepted an
invitation to chair the contact group.

Delegates agreed to remain in Plenary for the duration of INC-1,
and possibly for INC-2 aswell, but that contact groups could be
convened as needed to address technical issuesor to resolve differ-
ences.

POSSIBLE SUBSTANTIVE ARTICLESOF A DRAFT
INSTRUMENT: Delegatesin Plenary began consideration of
possible substantive articlesfor adraft instrument on Tuesday, 30
June.

Possible measuresto reduceand/or eliminatereleases of POPs
intotheenvironment: ICELAND, supported by NORWAY , stressed
that the instrument should consider all sources of POPsreleases and
that attention should be given to regional and subregional cooperation.
The REPUBLIC OF KOREA noted that the question of regulation
should includetrade, sales and elimination of these substances.
Several delegations, including SWAZILAND, SPAIN and the US,
highlighted the need for information about the categorization, produc-
tion, use, stockpiles and existing rel eases of the 12 POPs. GREEN-
PEA CE supported SPAIN concerning strong provisionsfor inventory
and reporting measures, and called for public accessto thisinforma-
tion. The GAMBI A said issues of elimination should be expanded to
include distribution, storage and disposal. GREENPEACE said any
terminology regarding “release reduction provisions’ isinadeguate
sincethe goal iscomplete elimination.

Management and disposal of stockpiles: TUNISIA underscored
the problem of stockpilesin devel oping countries and said disposal
should either be part of along-range programme within the framework
of the convention or responsibility should rest with producers. The
Regional Organization for the Protection of the Marine Environment
(ROPME) said all types of disposal of POPs should be addressed, not
solely stockpiles. THAILAND and ROPME proposed an article on
national focal points, to clearly designate responsibility for reporting
and for implementation of the convention. MEXICO said the use of
national focal pointsand designated national authoritieswould not be
necessary if the conventionislimited to elimination of production and/
or use of these substances.

CANADA, supported by POLAND, suggested several areaswhere
work could begin: assistance issues; destruction of stockpiles; reduc-
tion and elimination of the 12 POPs, specifically identifying invento-
ries, addressing the cost of destroying POPs and eliminating
emissions; and identifying criteriaand procedures. POLAND
proposed an articleto regul ate the phaseout period of the 12 POPs.
ETHIOPIA, THAILAND and GREENPEA CE proposed the addition
of an article on liability and compensation.

Information exchange: THAILAND, supported by ITALY,
requested clarification asto who will provide for the exchange of
information.

Publicinformation, awarenessand education: INDIA stressed
education at the grassroots level with respect to the dangersand impli-
cations of using POPs.

Resear ch, development and monitoring: THAILAND stressed
the importance of monitoring over research and CHILE stressed
studying differing national technical capacities. The DOMINICAN



Monday, 6 July 1998

Vol. 15 No. 10 Page 6

REPUBLIC noted that many devel oping countrieslack adequate
product management and, withthe GAMBI A, implored that transfer of
technology be actively carried out, particularly technology to facilitate
elimination and destruction of POPs. The GAMBIA, supported by
INDIA, said research should address alternatives. COLOMBIA
emphasized technical assistance and financial resourcesfor, inter alia,
establishing control programmes, accessing viable alternatives and
developing mechanismsfor technology transfer. ETHIOPI A requested
inclusion of indigenous knowledge when discussing alternatives.
ROPME proposed an article on bilateral, multilateral and regional
arrangements and stressed: utilizing existing infrastructures at the
regional level to carry out activities; developing national action plans
within aregional and subregional context; action programmes at the
international, regional and national levels; and including capacity
building when discussing technical assistance. The US stressed
harmonization with the PIC Convention and said the INC should
promote utilization of untapped sources of information.

CHINA emphasized the need for technical assistance, financial
resources and mechanisms, and the need for capacity building if coun-
triesareto show responsibility. SPAIN highlighted that alternatives
could come from countries other than the usual devel oped nationsand
that mechanismsto facilitate this should al so be envisaged. The
UNITED NATIONSINDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT ORGANIZA-
TION (UNIDO) and EGY PT stressed the need to consider differences
between the assistance given to devel oped and devel oping countries.
Referring to the provisions on public information, awareness and
education and on research, development and monitoring, the
WOMEN'SENVIRONMENT AND DEVELOPMENT ORGANI-
ZATION (WEDO) underscored the importance of giving special
attention to gender.

OnWednesday, 1 July, del egates agreed that the Secretariat would
prepare asecond draft of possible substantive articles of adraft POPs
convention for INC-2, incorporating the views expressed in Plenary
concerning the proposed articles outlined in document UNEP/POPS/
INC.1/4, proposals for additional articles, and written government
submissionsreceived by 1 September 1998.

IMPLEMENTATION ASPECTS, INCLUDING TECH-
NICAL COOPERATION AND FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE: On
Wednesday, 1 July, delegates addressed the issue of possiblefinancial
measures for adraft convention, including technical cooperation and
assistance. Severa delegations, including NEW ZEALAND,
AUSTRALIA and COLOMBIA, called for an information paper from
the Secretariat on existing programmes of assistance. The REPUBLIC
OF KOREA and SPAIN called for cost estimates for various disposal
options. CHINA requested from the Secretariat alist of contributions
from financial mechanismsin other conventionsin order to ascertain
potential contributions. ETHIOPIA stressed that financial resource
requirements extend beyond destruction of stockpilesto capacity
building and training. Supporting ETHIOPIA, IRAN added replace-
ment of chemicalsto such considerations. SENEGAL identified the
potential relevance of the funding arrangements of other conventions.
GUINEA suggested financial assistance should encompassthe
strengthening of risk management. COLOMBIA supported alist of
existing financial modelsto help determine needs. INDIA stressed the
difficulties and implications for industries manufacturing and distrib-
uting POPs and the value of providing compensation to ensure such
activity stops, and, supported by MALI, BENIN and CHAD, stressed
the need for financial assistance for education and presentationson
dangersand available alternatives.

INDONESIA stressed its current lack of an integrated system for
management of chemicalsand its need for information on funding
sourcesto facilitate capacity building and coordinated management.
SWAZILAND called for afund under this convention for imple-
menting basic requirements such as establishing acountry programme.

BENIN stressed the importance of research in considering alterna-
tives. The FAO noted that it is not afunding organization, but identi-
fied some potential for future arrangements with the convention with
respect to technical assistance. COTE D’ 1V OIRE stressed that funds
are necessary to allow Statesto evaluatelevels of concentration.
AUSTRALIA supported capacity building for devel oping countries
and use of the variousfinancial opportunitiesfrom regional, bilateral
and multilateral sources.

THAILAND, stressing the potentially unique nature of this
convention and identifying significant differences between countries
in costs of living and income, proposed that POPs-exporting countries
bear the greater burden. VIETNAM stressed theimportance of public
information on toxicity and a POPsinventory for devel oping coun-
tries. ETHIOPIA highlighted the costs of alternatives, especially for
DDT, and the need for financial support.

NIGER, supported by BURKINA FA SO, stressed information and
awareness raising, particularly among customs and excise services.
INDIA stressed technical assistance in terms of technology for manu-
facturing alternatives. KUWAIT stressed funding according to
capacity and ability within regions. BURKINA FA SO, supported by
BENIN, emphasized funding to support programmes on stockpile
elimination and public information.

EGY PT emphasized the need for information and support from
industrialized countriesto address common regional problems.
ZAMBIA, supported by the WORLD WILDLIFE FUND (WWF),
advocated the “ polluter-pays’ principle.

UNIDO emphasized the general need for mobilizing financial
resources whatever methods are adopted for elimination. The GEF
identified awindow for assistance through its programme on contami-
nation, but only asrelevant to international waters. CHINA expressed
its support for the GEF presentation but said POPsinvolves other
issues such as capacity building, public awareness and searching for
alternatives, and affects not only water but also air, land and the health
of human beings. BURUNDI stressed financial support for addressing
repercussions of chemicalswithdrawn from the market.

The WWF noted the Intergovernmental Panel on Forests' estab-
lishment of intersessional satellite meetings co-sponsored by devel-
oped and devel oping countries as an example of afacilitating
mechanism. The WHO outlined four possible cost categoriesinrela-
tion to assistance contained in its position paper on the phaseout of
DDT in countriesthat rely on it for malaria control, and said the WHO
would further elaborate these categoriesin preparation for INC-2.

Based on these discussions, the Secretariat was requested to
prepare three papersfor INC-2 on: existing financial mechanisms and
what isfinanced through them, bilateral activitiesto support chemical
management and other sources of funding such as the GEF, World
Bank, UNDP and regional mechanisms; the cost of assistancefor
awareness raising, databases, devel oping inventories, research, alter-
native chemical s and technol ogies and technol ogy transfer, consid-
ering the different circumstances and socio-economic factors of
countries; and models of financial mechanismsthat are currently in
use.

Delegates al so agreed to establish a subsidiary body on technical
and financial assistance, chaired by Maria-Cristina Cardenas Fischer
(Colombia), which will meet from INC-2 through INC-4. The US
stressed abroader package of implementation issuesfor the subsidiary
body to address, including consideration of national experiencesthus
far in controlling chemical s and the exchange of information.

With respect to additional information on substances, the US
stressed obtaining as much information as possiblein the negotiations
and mentioned the Montreal Protocol asamodel. CHILE highlighted
that not all countries are starting on equal footing and, with the
GAMBIA, proposed regional information laboratories. EL
SALVADOR and ETHIOPIA proposed drawing upon existing infor-



Vol. 15 No. 10 Page 7

Monday, 6 July 1998

mation infrastructures such asthosein the Basel and PIC Conventions.
COL OMBI A advocated moving away from incineration technologies,
and suggested mechanismsto identify alternatives and costs and to
exchangeinformation at the global level. UNIDO, asan implementing
agency of theMontreal Protocol, offered its services. A contact group
was established to consider the potential information needs of the INC.

DRAFT TERMSOF REFERENCE FOR THE CRITERIA
EXPERT GROUP: On Wednesday, 1 July, acontact group, chaired
by Ndoye Fatoumata Jallow (The Gambia), discussed draft terms of
reference for the expert group on the development of criteriaand a
procedure for additional POPs, as mandated by UNEP GC Decision
19/13C, paragraph 9. In the morning session, del egates discussed a
first draft of terms of reference prepared by the Secretariat. The after-
noon session considered arevised draft incorporating the morning’ s
discussionsand proposals.

Delegates agreed to carry out the mandate of the criteria expert
group (CEG) as specified in UNEP GC Decision 19/13C, paragraph 9.
A number of delegates al so stressed the need to include specific refer-
enceto the GC Decision in the mandate to provide a strong anchor for
theterms of reference. Del egates agreed that the objective of the CEG
to develop criteriaand a procedure be completed at or before INC-4.
Delegates al so agreed the CEG would be an open-ended Technical
Working Group with amandate to prepare and present to the INC
proposalsfor science-based criteriaand aprocedure for identifying
additional POPs as candidates for future international action.

One delegate proposed establishing a core group that would be
representative of the five regionsto ensure regional networking, but
the contact group decided that language encouraging broad regional
representation was sufficient and that a country could represent a
region at the CEG with prior agreement by that region. Text wasincor-
porated to reflect proposals that the CEG will meet prior to INC-2 and
that subsequent meetingswill be decided on by the INC.

Regarding proposals and recommendationsto the INC, del egates
decided the CEG should make every effort to reach agreement by
consensus. If consensus cannot be reached, all proposalsby partici-
pating governments shall bereflected in areport to be submitted to the
INC. Some del egates said the CEG should not get bogged down with
procedural mattersor it would be unableto fulfil its mandate. Dele-
gates agreed that the rules of the INC would apply to procedural
mattersin CEG meetings.

Delegates agreed the agenda of the CEG will be prepared by the
Secretariat in consultation with the CEG bureau and made availableto
all INC participantsat | east six weeks prior to CEG meeting. The
contact group agreed to consider and adopt reports at each meeting to
becirculated to all CEG and INC participants. The group chose
English, French and Spanish as the working languages of the CEG.

On Thursday, 2 July, delegatesin Plenary considered the draft
terms of referencefor the CEG forwarded to them by the contact group
(UNEP/POPS/INC.1/CRP.1).

On participation and with respect to the encouragement of regional
networking, INDIA asked for clarification on whether regional
networking was for those who could not participate. The Chair of the
contact group clarified that two separate i ssues were being addressed:
networking to express views and networking to offset differencesin
resources, with the understanding that resources referred to expertise
rather than financial resources. Delegates agreed to replace
“resources’ with “expertise” inthetext.

Delegates next considered whether socio-economic factorswere
included in the scope of technical expertise. INDIA, the GAMBIA,
CANADA, GUINEA, IRAN, INDONESIA, GHANA and QATAR
stressed including specific reference to socio-economic factors.
AUSTRIA expressed concern with telling experts what they should
takeinto account, asthat isaquestion of mandate. The Chair noted that
giving such consideration to socio-economic factorswould place them

on equal footing with science and questioned how thiswould influence
the participation of the meetings. ANTIGUA AND BARBUDA
proposed deleting reference to socio-economic factors since this
should beimplicit in technical expertise.

IRAN proposed that “ partici pants shoul d preferably have technical
expertise in chemical s assessment and management and knowledge of
socio-economic factors.” PAKISTAN stressed that participants
“should have technical expertise,” and that knowledge of socio-
economic factorsmay also be desirable. INDIA, THAILAND, the
CZECH REPUBLIC, GHANA and QATAR also supported deletion
of “preferably.” IRAN supported retaining “ preferably” to givethe
group flexibility. INDIA said technical expertisein chemical manage-
ment must include knowledge of societal forces, and could accept
deleting reference to socio-economic factors. THAILAND, the
CZECH REPUBLIC, CANADA and NIGERIA agreed that technical
expertise could include socio-economic factors and that specific refer-
encetoit could be deleted.

ARGENTINA, supported by NIGERIA and IRAN, said it should
beleft to each country to decide who to appoint and what type of expert
to send, and ARGENTINA reiterated that governments may designate
morethan one expert. PAKISTAN stressed the need to identify criteria
on technical expert groups, recalling that the biosafety negotiations
lacked agood representation of experts. The Chair proposed the
following text: “ Participants should have technical expertisein chemi-
cals assessment and management and knowledge of socio-economic
factors.” The Plenary accepted this proposal.

On meetings of the CEG, CHILE, on behalf of the Latin American
and Caribbean Group (GRULAC), supported holding meetings back-
to-back with the INC for consistency in participation and to facilitate
participation for those with limited resources. NEW ZEALAND
stressed the need to hold the CEG far enough in advanceto give INC
memberstimeto properly consider the CEG'’ sreport. The Secretariat
emphasized that UNEP does not have funding for any CEG meetings
or for the INC and that all POPs activities are funded by donors. He
highlighted difficultiesin finding facilities for two-week meetingsand
of translating meeting reportsin such ashort period of time.

A lengthy debate ensued regarding the proposal to use English,
French and Spanish as the working languages of the CEG. A number
of countries, including QATAR, INDIA, the RUSSIAN FEDERA-
TION, CHINA, EGYPT, IRAN, ARGENTINA, JORDAN, KUWAIT
and SYRIA, proposed using all six official UN languages. Some dele-
gations, suchasGERMANY, ICELAND, the UKRAINE, JAPAN, the
CZECH REPUBLIC, and THAILAND, suggested that English bethe
only language used in the CEG. ETHIOPI A suggested English asthe
working language of the group but that CEG documents be produced
inall six languages. COTE D’ IVOIRE, CHILE and the DOMINICAN
REPUBLIC suggested not having less than threelanguages.

The Secretariat noted that with moretranslation thereisagreater
cost and that subsidiary bodies often operate with fewer than the six
UN languages. He added that all decisionsfrom these bodiesare
forwarded to the Plenary wherethereisfull translation and highlighted
the recent PIC negotiations where subsidiary bodies functioned with
three languages. The Chair, supported by the US, added that costs of
transl ation might also haveimplicationsfor the ability and willingness
of donorsto fund such meetings.

In Plenary on Friday, 3 July, del egates reconsidered the question of
the working languages of the CEG. The Chair, highlighting that the
costs of one meeting in six languages may leave the Secretariat with
limited or no funds for travel support, said the Secretariat, in consulta-
tion with the bureau, could look to different optionsfor distributing
availablefundsfor travel. He then proposed that the terms of reference
for the CEG specify six working languages and that the meeting report
incorporate amanagement decision for the INC to limit the size of the
CEG and further state that UNEP encourage donorsto provide supple-



Monday, 6 July 1998

Vol. 15 No. 10 Page 8

mental funding for expertsfrom all regionsto participate in the meet-
ings. Theterms of reference for the CEG were then accepted by the
Plenary.

Delegates al so elected the Bureau of the CEG. Reiner Arndt
(Germany) and Ndoye Fatoumata Jallow (The Gambia) were chosen
as Co-Chairsand Luis Fernando Soares de Assis (Brazil) was chosen
as Rapporteur. Regarding documentation for consideration by the
CEG, the Plenary accepted UNEP/POPS/INC.1/6 asauseful starting
point. AUSTRIA suggested the work of the UN/ECE on criteriaas
worthy of further consideration and the US stated it was contributing a
paper on criteriathat would be made availableto the Secretariat. The
Chair then addressed the pattern of CEG meetings, noting that, if held
back-to-back with the INC, difficulties could arise with respect to
translation and distribution for consultations. The Chair proposed
meeting at atime separate from the INC, subject to resources
becoming available. The US offered to sponsor the first CEG meeting,
hopefully in October 1998.

TECHNICAL INFORMATION NEEDS: A contact group on
technical information needs, chaired by Robert Kellam (US), metin
the morning and afternoon of Thursday, 2 July, to draft abrief report
and formulate recommendationsto forward to Plenary for further
discussion. The Chair stressed immediate identification of short-term
needsto be conveyed to the INC. The group identified examples of
short-term information needsincluding: characterization of dioxin
sources, assessment tool s and abatement measures, compilation of
information on substitutes and alternative management strategiesfor
DDT and PCBs; and further elucidation of chlordane use patterns. The
group also discussed the merits of undertaking work on dioxin and
generally agreed that such work would be of considerable valueto the
INC. However, the group failed to reach agreement on the appropriate
mechanism for proceeding but recommended that it be taken up at
INC-2.

Delegates discussed compilation of information and identification
of information gaps, aswell as providing devel oping countrieswith
thisinformation. Delegates were in basic agreement that thereis
already considerableinformation that needsto be synthesized. A
number of delegates from developing countries said their countries
had received questionnaires from UNEP, but could not complete them
duetolack of technical information and know-how. Primary concerns
were how to compile thisinformation and how to bridge information
gaps. A number of delegates proposed that the Secretariat could iden-
tify needs and gaps and assi st with questionnaires, but one expressed
concern that if the Secretariat wereto assist, it needed resources.

Delegates urged addressing how to bring existing information into
the process, suggested using asimilar structureto that of the Montreal
Protocol, and stressed the necessity of thisinformation for implemen-
tation. One delegate noted that the Montreal Protocol drew upon
expertsindependent of the negotiations. Other del egatesal so stressed a
policy-neutral process.

Therewereinitial proposalsto establish an expert group, but
concernswere expressed over having another expert group and some
del egates suggested using a consultant to compile and synthesize
existing information. The Secretariat suggested possibilitiessuch asan
advisory group to the Chair.

Some del egates suggested requesting help from other agencies or
organi zations who have done work on specific issues, such asWHO
and WWF with respect to DDT. Another del egate suggested a*“lead
country approach” whereby a country with particular expertise would
takethelead in compiling information.

A number of delegates said work should begin intersessionally
and, in particular, synthesizing of information and examining how
information gaps could be filled can begin in those countries with
existing information. The contact group agreed that the matter should
berevisited at INC-2.

On Friday, 3 July, delegates heard in Plenary abrief presentation of
theresults of the contact group, as contained in UNEP/POPS/INC.1/
CRP.5. Thereport outlined some possible appropriate mechanismsto
addresstechnical information needs, including, inter alia: tasks under-
taken by the Secretariat; the formation of special-purpose contact
groups, and technical reports prepared by experts. Chair Buccini said
thework of thisgroup drew attention to the need to characterize tech-
nical information requirementsin order to make progress on proposed
control measures. He asked the INC to keep resources and different
approachesin mind asit dealswith thisissue. He noted an earlier
proposal suggesting the use of asmall, specialized expert group to
produce a specific policy-neutral technical report, and reiterated that
the process of producing atechnical report could take up to eight
months. Therefore he said the INC must be deliberate about i denti-
fying information needs as early as possible.

AUSTRIA, on behalf of the EC, reiterated the need for further
technical information, but questioned the usefulness of additional
groupsto the negotiating process. He proposed that the INC identify
needs and called on the Secretariat to provide the required information
using all possible means, which could include using additional outside
expertise. The Chair warned that alack of information should not
become an impediment to negotiations. The report was noted by the
Plenary.

CLOSING PLENARY

On Friday, 3 July, the Chair convened thefinal Plenary of INC-1
and introduced four position papers on regional viewsregarding
elementsfor apossible POPs convention from the Asia-Pacific Group
(UNEP/POPS/INC.1/CRP.2), the Central and Eastern European
Group (UNEP/POPS/INC.1/CRP.3), the African Group (UNEP/
POPS/INC.1/CRP.4) and the L atin American and Caribbean Group
(UNEP/POPS/INC.1/CRP.6). No interventions were made on these
position papers.

NIGERIA said that the IFCSintersessional meeting in December
would address capacity building, and noting that POPs rai se many
capacity building issues, stressed promoting and building on the
progress made and the work already completed. She suggested that the
INC recommend to the IFCSthat it discuss the matter of safe manage-
ment of PCBs as a concrete example of capacity building. She high-
lighted the FAO' swork on pesticides, but stressed the lack of work
with regard to industrial chemicals, in particular PCBs. GERMANY,
noting its active participation within the |FSC, supported Nigeria' s
proposal and assured that it will be discussed at the | FCS intersessional
meeting. INDONESIA and JAPAN al so supported the proposal and
JAPAN noted that it might be able to cooperate in transferring tech-
nology and information on PCBs.

The Chair urged governments, industry and NGOsto continue
working throughout the negotiating process. He noted the considerable
interest in regional and subregional cooperation and said the type of
implementation for regional action plans must beidentified. ROPME
said that it could identify actionsfor regional action plans and stressed
coordination at theregional level. The Secretariat welcomed the
opportunity to cooperate with ROPM E and with the many other rele-
vant multilateral legally binding instruments, as specified in UNEP/
POPS/INC.1/3.

The Chair then invited comments on the draft report of the meeting
(UNEP/POPS/INC.1/L.1). ICCA noted that the section addressing
risks from POPs|acked balancein terms of how theissuewas
addressed in the meeting and proposed adding languageto the report to
reflect its position. Some delegates expressed concern that such
language might be attributed to governments rather than an observer.
The Chair said that sources of statementsare not normally reflected in
meeting reports, but asked if an exception could be madein this case.
This prompted alengthy debate on how to address statements by
NGOsin meeting reports.



Vol. 15 No. 10 Page 9

Monday, 6 July 1998

ARGENTINA, supported by BRAZIL, CHILE and IRAN, stressed
it was areport of the Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee and
since NGOs are not governments, their views should not bein the
report. They suggested placing observer statementsin an annex.
CANADA, supported by other delegations such asthe US and the
CZECH REPUBLIC, noted the high degree of NGO participation, and
said that while such views are useful and should bereflected in the
report, aphrase should be formulated to distinguish their statements
from government statements. Many delegations, including FRANCE,
theNETHERLANDS, ICELAND, DENMARK, the CZECH
REPUBLIC and SPAIN, acknowledged the importance of including
NGO views, but thought statements from industry and NGOs should
be distinguished from those of governments. The REPUBLIC OF
KOREA, supported by PESTICIDE ACTION NETWORK, WWF and
the CZECH REPUBLIC, said the NGO itself must beidentified so that
industry would not be confused with environmental NGOs.

The Chair proposed that reference be made to NGO statementsin
the report, where appropriate, and the actual statementsbeincluded in
an annex, where the statement would be clearly attributed to an NGO.
An attempt would be made to distinguish public interest NGOs from
industry. CHILE, on behalf of GRULAC, supported the Chair’s
proposal. The US asked for clarification on the treatment of 1GOs. It
was decided that | GOswould not be treated the same asNGOs and that
| GO statementswould remain in the actual report.

The US proposed additional language for the report of the meeting
that “ many representatives al so stressed the fact that POPs cause local
risksto human health or the environment.” Thiswas accepted by the
Plenary.

With regard to afinancing mechanism, the US proposed that refer-
ence be made to theidentification and more effective mobilization of
existing mechanisms for financial and technical assistance. BRAZIL,
supported by ARGENTINA, noted that only afew delegations had
made referenceto such astatement in their opening comments. TheUS
responded that they and Japan had suggested such language earlier and
AUSTRALIA noted that they had also made similar statements.The
US, supported by ETHIOPIA and JAPAN, proposed that referenceto
there having been no opposition to the inclusion of the draft articles
contained in the discussion document UNEP/POPS/INC.1/4 be
amended to say that the document was “astarting point.”

AUSTRIA, on behalf of the EC, thanked the Chair and the Govern-
ment of Canadafor hosting the meeting and noted this INC had been
marked by a collaborative mood. He emphasized the need for abroad-
ened information base about these substances and suggested the work
of the UN/ECE POPs protocol asavaluableinformation source. He
proposed that the Secretariat collect already existing information on
POPs and make it available to governments as soon as possible and
that thismay help shape the scope and focus of the draft instrument.
COTE D’ IVOIRE, on behalf of the African Group, thanked the Chair
and Bureau for their work in assisting the INC to take a step forward.
He also thanked donors who provided financial assistance enabling
them to attend the meeting and highlighted the hope of the African
Group that frank and honest cooperation will continue. CHILE, on
behalf of the Latin American and Caribbean Group, thanked the Chair
for his good work and sense of humor, and also thanked the host
country and other participants.

KUWAIT, on behalf of the Arab States, thanked the Canadian
Government and the UNEP Secretariat and noted that they had greatly
benefited from this meeting. AUSTRALIA, on behalf of JUSCANZ,
thanked the Chair and the Government of Canada and noted that the
environment will benefit from the results of these negotiations.
CHINA thanked the Governments of Canada and Quebec, aswell as
the Chair, and emphasized that they hope to achieve the objective of
achieving alegally binding instrument. POLAND, on behalf of the
Eastern and Central European Group, thanked the Governments of

Canada and Quebec and the Chair. He noted that hisgroup had a
smaller number of representatives at this meeting, but hoped that their
participation will increase at future meetings.

After reviewing the current score of the Brazil-Denmark World
Cup match, the Chair thanked the Secretariat and Bureau. He stressed
that thework of thisINC was very much ateam effort and emphasized
that INC-2 would be amoreintense meeting. The meeting was
adjourned at 4:45 pm.

A BRIEF ANALYSISOF INC-1

To the satisfaction of many participants, POPsINC-1 enjoyed a
smooth and relatively trouble-free start. Del egates met with aclear
spirit of cooperation, mutual purpose, shared responsibility and voiced
their determination to tackle what is universally acknowledged asa
very real and seriousthreat to human health and the environment.
Unexpectedly, many of the procedural issuesthat havetypically
required afull week at the commencement of other negotiationswere
resolved within thefirst few days. There was universal support for the
sound and clear platform for progress established by prior activities.
The INC quickly adopted itsrules of procedure and began considering
someinitial elementsthat could beincluded in adraft convention. The
INC created a Criteria Expert Group with terms of reference and a
bureau, and a subsidiary body on technical and financial assistance
was al so established. Despite this progress, some del egates thought
that given the work and experience on POPs|eading up to the meeting,
including arecently completed POPs protocol under the LRTAP
Convention, greater efforts could have been devoted to the substance
of apotential draft instrument in order to accel erate the process.

TOP OF THE POPs: Thebeginning of anegotiating processis
often characterized by optimism when everything seems possible.
INC-1 was no exception. Many participants expressed real enthusiasm
for aprocessthat seemed to have many advantages. First, the broad
consensus among virtually all participantsregarding the raison d’ étre
for this negotiation in many ways sets the POPs negotiations apart
from many other multilateral environmental negotiations. The focus
onalist of 12initial POPs, with othersto be added | ater, and the agree-
ment on the need for a solutions-oriented convention further enhances
the prospects of completing the instrument within the time period
mandated by the UNEP Governing Council. Second, many del egates
noted that the INC reaped the benefits of the substantial work that took
place before INC-1, in particular the preparations of the |[FCS Ad Hoc
Working Group on POPs and the recently completed LRTAP POPs
protocol, which was, according to some, apotential model for this
instrument. Additional groundwork was done at the PIC negotiations,
asevidenced by thefact that rules of procedure mirroring those of the
PIC INC were adopted by the POPsINC and several articlesfrom the
PIC Convention were put forward as proposed articlesfor adraft POPs
convention.

Third, the broad approval and enthusiasm for the choice of INC
Chair and Chairsfor the CEG and implementation subsidiary body
was another indication of the spirit of cooperation in aconsensus-
driven approach that, for the most part, was clearly present during the
week. Finally, the North-South polarization that plagues other negoti-
ating processes was noticeably absent since many devel oping coun-
triesare al so producing and using POPs substances. Rather, therewas
strong emphasis on the benefits of regional cooperation and regional
effortsto implement commitmentsthat many predicted would play a
key rolein the negotiating process.

BARRIERSTO STOPPING THE POPs: Thereremain, never-
theless, several hurdlesthat will need to be overcome during the
coming monthsif the POPs processisto maintainits early momentum.
Asisso often the case, “the devil isin the details” and no amount of
good can smooth over potential conflicts of interest asthe negotiations
zero in on more substantive matters.



Monday, 6 July 1998

Vol. 15 No. 10 Page 10

Not surprisingly, many developing country delegates have already
emphasized theimportance of provisionsfor financial and technical
assistanceif they areto successfully implement any obligations placed
on them by afuture convention. Theissue of financing of the whole
process |oomed large asthe Secretariat repeatedly noted that there was
asyet no provision for funding for INC-2. The difficulty of securing
the required resourcesfor meetings, anissuefaced by virtually all
other environmental conventions, was highlighted in Montreal by the
debate over the costs of translation for all six official UN languages at
meetings of subsidiary bodies. Some del egates expressed concern that
potential donorswould be “scared off” by the daunting task of funding
many expensive meetings.

Several participantsal so emphasized that information about
sources and emissions of many of the POPsto be regul ated is unavail -
ablein some countries or in some parts of the world. It is hoped,
however, the efforts undertaken parallel to the negotiations, such asthe
intersessional work suggested by the contact group on technical infor-
mation needs, will assist in reducing information gaps before the end
of the process.

A number of African delegates also expressed their concernsthat
health issuesrelated to vector-borne diseases such asmalariabe given
more consideration by the INC. Moreover, devel oping countries
feared that devel oped countries might place too much emphasison
criteriaissuesrather than the realities of finding and funding cost-
effective alternativesto POPs, in particular DDT. Lastly, elimination
of the 12 specified POPs may be the ultimate goal, but some target
substances, particularly by-products such as dioxins and furans, are
difficult to eliminate per se. The process for dealing with these
substances as well as existing stockpiles remain unclear, and alterna-
tives, such as cost-effective incineration processes, remain elusive.

POPSIN PROGRESSION: Despite the future hurdles, expecta-
tionsarehigh. Participantsat INC-2 will need to hit the ground running
on substantive discussions now that organizational matters have been
resolved, lest the advantagesthat INC-1 enjoyed arewasted. The POPs
negotiations are now center stagein international effortsregarding
chemical safety and aglobal audience will be following the proceed-
ingswith ever-increasing interest.

THINGSTO LOOK FOR

PERSISTENT ORGANIC POLLUTANTS: Thesecond session
of the Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPSs) Intergovernmental Negoti-
ating Committee (INC-2) istentatively scheduled for 8-12 February
1999 in Geneva. Thefirst meeting of the CEG istentatively scheduled
for October 1998, at alocation to be decided. For moreinformation
contact: UNEP Chemicals (IRPTC); tel: +41 (22) 979-9190; fax: +41
(22) 797-3460; e-mail: dogden@unep.ch; internet: http://
irptc.unep.ch/pops/.

DIPLOMATIC CONFERENCE FOR ADOPTION OF THE
PIC CONVENTION: TheDiplomatic Conferencefor the adoption of
aninternational legally binding Convention on the Prior Informed
Consent Procedurefor Certain Hazardous Chemicals and Pesticidesin
International Trade (PIC Convention) isscheduled for 10-11
September 1998 in Rotterdam, the Netherlands. For moreinformation
contact: UNEP Chemicals (IRPTC); tel: +41 (22) 979-9111,; fax: +41
(22) 797-3460; e-mail: jwillis@unep.ch; internet: http://irptc.unep.ch/
pic/. Also: FAQ; tel: +39 (6) 5705 3441, fax: +39 (6) 5705 6347;
email: niek.vandergraaff @fao.org; internet: http://www.fao.org/ag/
agp/agpp/pesticid/pic/pichome.htm.

WTO COMMITTEE ON TRADE AND ENVIRONMENT:
From 23-24 July 1998, the WTO Committee on Trade and Environ-
ment (CTE) will discussitemsrelated to the linkages between the
multilateral environment agenda and multilateral trade agenda,
including the use of trade measurestaken pursuant to multilateral envi-

ronmental agreements. For further information contact Sabrina Shaw
at the WTO Secretariat, Environment Division: tel: +41 (22) 739-
5383; fax: +41 (22) 739-5620; e-mail: sabrina.shaw@wto.org;
internet: http://www.wto.org.

| EP *98: Issuesin Environmental Pollution (IEP 98), thefirstina
new series of international symposia, will take place from 23-26
August 1998 in Denver, Colorado, USA. The symposiumwill focuson
the state and use of science and predictive models. The main scientific
issuesin environmental pollution — persistent organic chemicals;
metal s and radioactivity; ozone and acidic deposition; particulates and
global climate change — will belinked with the use of science and
predictive models. For more information, contact Lyn Quirke at the
Conference Secretariat; tel: +44 (0) 1235-868380; fax: +44 (0) 1235-
868420; e-mail: lynquirke@compuserve.com. Also try: http://
www.elsevier.nl/locate/iep98.

INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON INDUSTRY AND
ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE: Thisconferencewill be
heldin Aalborg, Denmark, from 23-25 September 1998. Thethemesto
be discussed include: environmental management; environmentally
sound product devel opment; self-regulation versus public regulation;
cleaner technology and prevention; and stakehol der management. For
further information contact the Secretariat at the Aalborg Congress
and Culture Centre: tel: +45 9935 5555; fax: +45 9935 5580; e-mail:
euro@akkc.dk; internet: http://www.akkc.dk/uk/euro/envire/
index.htm.

23RD JOINT MEETING OF THE FAO PANEL OF
EXPERTSON PESTICIDE RESIDUESIN FOOD AND THE
ENVIRONMENT AND THE WHO EXPERT GROUP ON
PESTICIDE RESIDUES (JMPR): Themeetingwill be held from 21
September - 1 October 1998 in Rome. For more information contact:
Gerold Wyrwal, FAO; tel: +39 (6) 5705 2753; fax: +39 (6) 5705 6347;
e-mail: Gerold.Wyrwal @fao.org.

EIGHTH MEETING OF THE PESTICIDE FORUM: This
meeting will be held in Parisfrom 2-3 November 1998 jointly with the
28th Joint M eeting of the Chemicals Group and Management
Committee. For information contact: Nicky Grandy, OECD: tel: +33
(1) 4524 16 76; fax: +33 (1) 45 24 16 76; e-mail:
nicola.grandy @oecd.org.

INTERGOVERNMENTAL FORUM ON CHEMICAL
SAFETY: The Third Meeting of the Intersessional Group (1SG-3) will
be held from 1-4 December 1998 in Y okohama, Japan. Brazil will
forward itsdecision to host FORUM |11, scheduled for late 2000, to the
IFCS as soon as possible. The Plenary al so agreed tentatively to hold
ISG-4in 2002. For information on these meetings, contact the |FCS
Secretariat, World Health Organization, CH-1211 Geneva 27, Swit-
zerland: tel: +41 (22) 791-3588; fax: +41 (22) 791-4848; e-mail:
ifcs@who.ch; internet: http://www.who.ch/whosig/ifcs/ifcshome.htm.

13TH SESSION OF THE FAO GROUP ON REGISTRA-
TION REQUIREMENTSOF THE PANEL OF EXPERTSON
PESTICIDE SPECIFICATIONS, REGISTRATION REQUIRE-
MENTS, APPLICATION STANDARDSAND PRIOR
INFORMED CONSENT: Thismeeting will be held from 7-11 June
1999 in Rome and will produce recommendations on procedures for
the preparation and revision of guidelines and increased transparency
and recommendationsfor the revision of the International Code of
Conduct on the Distribution and Use of Pesticides. The 14th Session of
the Panel of Experts on Pesticide Specifications, Registration Require-
ments, Application Standards and Prior Informed Consent will be held
from 14-17 June 1999. For information contact: Gerold Wyrwal, FAO:
tel: +39 (6) 5705 2753; fax: +39 (6) 5705 6347; e-mail:
Gerold.Wyrwal @fao.org.



